
         

 

 

 
AVE MARIA STEWARDSHIP 

COMMUNITY DISTRICT 
 

COLLIER COUNTY 
REGULAR BOARD MEETING 

APRIL 4, 2023 
9:00 A.M. 

5080 ANNUNCIATION CIRCLE, SUITE 101, AVE MARIA, FLORIDA 34142 

www.avemariastewardshipcd.org 

 

 

DISTRICT MANAGER 

Special District Services, Inc. 
The Oaks Center 

2501A Burns Road 
Palm Beach Gardens, FL 33410 

561.630.4922 Telephone 
877.SDS.4922 Toll Free 
561.630.4923 Facsimile 



 
AGENDA 

AVE MARIA STEWARDSHIP COMMUNITY DISTRICT 
REGULAR BOARD MEETING 

April 4, 2023 
9:00 a.m. 

Ave Maria Master Association (office/fitness center) 
5080 Annunciation Circle, Unit 101 

Ave Maria, Florida 34142 
TO JOIN VIA ZOOM: https://us02web.zoom.us/j/84351784590 

MEETING ID: 843 5178 4590 DIAL IN AT: 1-929-436-2866 
 

A. Call to Order 

B. Pledge of Allegiance 

C. Invocation 

D. Proof of Publication……………………………………………………………………………………Page 1 

E. Establish a Quorum 

F. Additions or Deletions to Agenda  

G. Comments from the Public for Items Not on the Agenda 

H. Approval of Minutes 

1. March 7, 2023 Regular Board Meeting & Public Hearing Minutes……………………………….Page 2 

I. Old Business 

J. New Business 

1. Consider Approval of Change Order No. 1 between the District and O’Donnell Landscapes, Inc. 
for Ave Maria Boulevard Phase 2 Landscape Installation………………………………………...Page 10 

 Audience Comments 

2. Consider Resolution No. 2023-05 – Designating Registered Agent………………………………Page 24 

 Audience Comments 

3. Consider Approval Bond Finance Team Funding Agreement…………………………………….Page 25 

 Audience Comments 

4. Consider Approval Engagement Letter with MBS Capital Markets, LLC ……………………….Page 30 

 Audience Comments 

5. Consider Approval Engagement Letter with G. Russell Weyer…………………………………..Page 35 

 Audience Comments 

K. Administrative Matters 

1. Legal Report 

2. Engineer Report 

3. Manager’s Report 

a. AMSCD Projects Update…………………………………………………………………..Page 38 

b. Financials…………………………………………………………………………..……....Page 39 

L. Board Members Comments 

M. Adjourn 



Miscellaneous Notices 

Published in Naples Daily News on March 24, 2023 

Location 
Collier County, Florida 
Notice Text 

AVE MARIA STEWARDSHIP COMMUNITY DISTRICT NOTICE OF 
REGULAR BOARD MEETING The Board of Supervisors (the "Board") of 
the Ave Maria Stewardship Community District (the "District") will hold a 
Regular Board Meeting ("Meeting") at 9:00 a.m. on April 4, 2023, in the 
Ave Maria Master Association located at 5080 Annunciation Circle, Unit 
101, Ave Maria, Florida 34142, and will also hold the Meeting utilizing 
communications media technology through the following login 
information: Join by URL for VIDEO ACCESS 
at: https://us02web.zoom.us/j/84351784590 Meeting ID: 843 5178 4590 
Join by PHONE at: 1-929-436-2866 Meeting ID: 843 5178 4590 The 
purpose of the Meeting is for the Board to address District related items 
as noted on the Agenda. At such time the Board is so authorized and 
may consider any business that may properly come before it. A copy of 
the agenda may be obtained at the offices of the District Manager, 
Special District Services, Inc., 2501A Burns Road, Palm Beach Gardens, 
Florida 33410 (561) 630-4922, during normal business hours, or by 
visiting the District's website at www.avemariastewardshipcd.org seven 
(7) days prior to the meeting date. The meeting is open to the public 
and will be conducted in accordance with the provisions of Florida law. 
The meeting may be continued to a date, time and place to be specified 
on the record at the meeting. There may be occasions when Board 
Supervisors or District Staff may participate by speaker telephone. Any 
person requiring special accommodations at this meeting because of a 
disability or physical impairment should contact the District Manager's 
Office at least forty-eight (48) hours prior to the meeting. If you are 
hearing or speech impaired, please contact the Florida Relay Service by 
dialing 7-1-1, or 1-800-955-8771 (TTY)/1-800-955-8770 (Voice), for aid 
in contacting the District Manager's office. Each person who decides to 
appeal any decision made by the Board with respect to any matter 
considered at the meeting is advised that person will need a record of 
proceedings and that accordingly, the person may need to ensure that a 
verbatim record of the proceedings is made, including the testimony 
and evidence upon which such appeal is to be based. AVE MARIA 
STEWARDSHIP COMMUNITY 
DISTRICT www.avemariastewarshipcd.org PUBLISH: 3/24/2023 No. 
5635327 

 
Page 1



Page 1 of 6 
 

AVE MARIA STEWARDSHIP COMMUNITY DISTRICT 
REGULAR BOARD MEETING  
Ave Maria Master Association 

5080 Annunciation Circle, Unit 101  
Ave Maria, Florida 34142 

or 
TO JOIN VIA ZOOM: https://us02web.zoom.us/j/83198051068 

MEETING ID: 831 9805 1068  DIAL IN AT: 1 929 436 2866 
FEBRUARY 7, 2023 

 
 

A. CALL TO ORDER 
 
The March 7, 2023, Regular Board Meeting of the Ave Maria Stewardship Community District (the 
“District”) was called to order at 6:00 p.m. in the Ave Maria Master Association located at 5080 
Annunciation Circle, Unit 101, Ave Maria, Florida 34142.  The meeting was also available via the 
Zoom information indicated above.  
 
B. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE  
 
C. INVOCATION 
 
Mr. Klucik led the meeting in prayer. 
 
D. PROOF OF PUBLICATION 
 
Proof of publication was presented indicating that notice of the Regular Board Meeting had been 
published in the Naples Daily News on February 28, 2023, as legally required. 

 
E. ESTABLISH A QUORUM 

 
A quorum was established with the following: 
 
Board of Supervisors 
Chairman Thomas Peek Present (via Zoom) 
Vice Chair Jay Roth Present 
Supervisor Jeff Sonalia Present 
Supervisor Tom DiFlorio Present 
Supervisor Robb Klucik Present 

 
District Staff in attendance were:   
 
District Manager Andrew Karmeris  Special District Services, Inc. 

District Manager Todd Wodraska (via Zoom) Special District Services, Inc. 

General Counsel  Alyssa Willson  Kutak Rock, LLP 

Page 2



Page 2 of 6 
 

District Engineer Ted Tryka  Agnoli Barber & Brundage, 
Inc. 

Owner Representative David Genson (via phone) Barron Collier Companies 

 
Also present were the following: 
 
Kim Twiss, Roger Echols, Jason Vogel and the following Ave Maria residents: Ronny Lambotte, 
Theresa & Steve DeMaio, David & Rae Arsenault, Scott & Carol Dobson, Victor Acquista, Paula 
Csantaveri, Gerard & Paula Federici, John & Yvonne Turner, Jean & Jeff Burns, Bea & David 
Sanford, Sue Schweizer, Jeff Plys, Joseph MaryAnn and Cali Cavanaugh, Ben Anderson, Joe 
Palomino, Kevin Iepson, Geovanni Rodriguez, Mike Mayo, Nicole C. Green and Kevin Schang.  
 
There were also others present via Zoom. 
 
F. ADDITIONS AND DELETIONS TO AGENDA 
 
New Business item #4 Standards and Criteria in Place for Use on District Lands.  
 
G. COMMENTS FROM THE PUBLIC FOR ITEMS NOT ON THE AGENDA 
 
Sue Schweizer, a district resident, addressed the board regarding golf cart speed enforcement and the 
possibility of hiring a security company to police and enforce golf cart rules.  Mr. Karmeris reminded 
the Board that the Sheriff’s Office said they cannot enforce golf cart speeds on the path.   
 
Ben Anderson, a district resident, thanks Mr. Klucik for assisting him with an American flag issue in 
his HOA.  He then asked if it was possible to hire additional police to patrol the community?  The 
Board informed Mr. Anderson that the Sheriff’s Office has stated they do not have the manpower and 
hiring off duty police officers is not possible at this time.  
 
Ronny Lambotte, a district resident, addressed the Board regarding the newly opened segment of 
Anthem.  He asked that the speed limit be lowered and additional trees/vegetation be put in on the 
east side of Anthem’s new section.  Mr. Sonalia responded that the developer is aware of this and that 
section us part of a future landscape plan.  Mr. Klucik had follow up questions regarding other homes 
in that area.  Mr. Lambotte stated there was no foliage on Anthem near the other homes either.  
 
Jean Burns, a district resident, asked about putting another golf cart path on the other side of Ave 
Maria Boulevard.   
 
Nicole Green, a district resident, asked if Chairman Peek will be able to vote via zoom? Ms. Willson 
stated that in accordance with the Disrict’s Rules of Procedure,  he could vote but does not count 
towards the three board member physical quorum.  
 
Jeff Plys, a district resident, stated that the golf cart speeding has gotten out of hand and he seen golf 
cart drivers running stop signs.  Mr. Roth asked residents to please call the Sheriff's Department when 
they see violations.  
 
Mr. Klucik stated that he was very disappointed to see a fire truck speed by to get to Publix, not to an 
emergency.  

Page 3



Page 3 of 6 
 

 
Mr. DiFlorio informed the maintenance team that the flashing light that says stop was not working.  
 
H. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
 
 1. February 7, 2023, Regular Board Meeting Minutes 
 
The minutes of the February 7, 2023, Regular Board Meeting were presented for consideration.   
 
A motion was made by Mr. DiFlorio, seconded by Mr. Sonalia and passed unanimously approving 
the minutes of the February 7, 2023, Regular Board Meeting, as presented.   
 
I. PUBLIC HEARING – RULES RELATING TO PARKING AND ENFORCEMENT 
 
Vice Chairman Roth opened the Public Hearing at 6:26 p.m. 
 

1. Proof of Publication 
 
Proof of publication was presented indicating that notice of the Public Hearing had been published in 
the Naples Daily News on February 6, 2023, as legally required. 
 

2. Receive Public Comments Adopting Rules Relating to Parking and Parking 
Enforcement 

 
Ms. Willson presented the Towing and Parking Procedures and gave some background from the prior 
two meetings.  
 
Geovanni Rodriguez, a district resident, discussed his profession as a truck driver and stated that there 
aren’t any other places to park trucks in the area.  Mr. Rodriguez’ wife thanked the Board for being 
conscience of the residents whose professions involve truck and trailers.  
 
Victor Acquista, a district resident, expressed his support for Resolution 2023-04.  He stated that 14 
vehicles were parked in what would soon become a restricted parking area. He then asked the board 
if they believed the parking situation reached the definition of a truck depot?  The board declined to 
comment but stated they are taking action to resolve the issue.  
 

3. Consider Resolution No. 2023-04 – Adopting Rules Relating to Parking and Parking 
Enforcement 

 
RESOLUTION 2023-04 

 
A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE AVE MARIA 
STEWARDSHIP COMMUNITY DISTRICT ADOPTING RULES RELATING 
TO PARKING AND PARKING ENFORCEMENT; RATIFYING THE 
ACTIONS OF THE DISTRICT MANAGER TO PROVIDE NOTICE 
THEREOF; AND PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY AND AN EFFECTIVE 
DATE. 

 

Page 4



Page 4 of 6 
 

Mr. Klucik asked about abandoned cars and whether it would be problematic to update the language?  
Ms. Willson said it would not be problematic to amend the policy language but procedurally it would 
be difficult to log daily which vehicles may or may not be abandoned.  
 
Mr. DiFlorio asked if the developer has a plan for an alternative location.  Ms. Willson stated yes, 
Mr. Genson plans to meet with Ave Maria University as soon as possible regarding the area that was 
used for the temporary EMS facility.  
 
Mr. Klucik asked if we can make this effective as of May 1, 2023?  Ms. Willson stated that the 
adoption date would be the effective date but could wait until alternative locations and the signs are 
up.  
 
Mr. Genson stated that this is not a simple matter on public roads and the process takes time.  He then 
apologized if it is not being resolved as quickly as some would like it to.  He made it clear that the 
developer does not want to penalize residents for their profession but also understands that the parking 
situation is an issue and we are working towards a resolution.   
 
A motion was made by Mr. Klucik, seconded by Mr. DiFlorio and passed unanimously approving 
Resolution 2023-04 Adopting Rules Relating to Parking and Parking Enforcement as presented.  
 
The public hearing was closed at 7:01 p.m. and the regular board meeting was reconvened.  
 
J. OLD BUSINESS 
 
 
K.  NEW BUSINESS 
  

1. Discussion Regarding the Presentation of District Meeting Materials  
 
Mr. Klucik would like to put Ave Maria’s information on the cover page including meeting location, 
website, etc.  
 
Mr. Sonalia suggested that an Ave Maria Stewardship District logo be created. Mr. Klucik 
volunteered to work on a logo.  
 

2. Consider Approval of Cost Share Agreement Between Ave Maria Stewardship 
Community District and Ave Maria Utility Company, LLP for Consulting Services 

 
Ms. Willson presented the agreement.  Mr. Vogel of Ave Maria Utility Company, LLP asked the 
board to enter into the agreement and for the approval of the $50,000 budgeted for asset management 
be used towards sharing in the cost with Ave Maria Utility Company.  Mr. Klucik had some follow 
up questions regarding the agreement and whether it was always planned to be done with the utility 
company?  Mr. Genson stated that it was not always planned to do in step with the utility company, 
however, the District always planned to catalog all the assets it owned through asset management 
software.  He then stated the utility company is already going through this process and it was more 
cost effective to piggy back on what the utility company was already doing.  Mr. Vogel stated that all 
the data collected would be digital in nature and given to the District upon completion for future use.  
After a lengthy discussion, the board was in agreement that sharing the cost with utility company 
made sense.  

Page 5



Page 5 of 6 
 

 
A motion was made by Mr. DiFlorio, seconded by Mr. Peek and passed unanimously approving the 
Cost Share Agreement as presented.  
 

3. Consider Approval of Davey Tree Pruning Proposal 
 

Mr. Karmeris presented the proposal and informed the board that this is a budgeted item and would 
be under budget for the year.  
 
A motion was made by Mr. DiFlorio, seconded by Mr. Sonalia and passed unanimously approving 
the Davey Tree Landscaping Tree Pruning proposal.  
 

4. Use of District Land – Criteria or Standards for Use 
 
Mr. Klucik stated that he would like to be careful on how the District allows certain events going 
forward.  Mr. Sonalia agreed that this was a good idea. Ms. Willson encourage the district to establish 
a special event permit process.  The Board directed district counsel to draft policy and procedures for 
events using district land for consideration at a future meeting.  
 
District resident Nicole Green encouraged the district to carefully craft the language to clarify which 
parks are public and which are private.  

 
 
L. ADMINISTRATIVE MATTERS 
 

1. Legal Report  
a. Update on National Gate Operation  

 
Ms. Willson informed the board that the sidewalks are also public and entry should not be denied to 
the public.  Mr. Klucik stated that pedestrians should not be forced to walk in the street to the guard 
gate to ask for entry if the sidewalk gates are locked.  Robb asked that a discussion with Lennar 
regarding the sidewalk gate access be held.   
 

2. Engineer’s Report 
a. Discussion Regarding Restriping Agreement 

Mr. Tryka stated that the majority of the project had been completed but a small punch list of items 
remains.  Ms. Twiss stated that the association has received positive compliments regarding the 
restriping project.  

 
b. University Intersection 

Mr. Tryka gave an update.  He stated that traffic engineer Norm Trebilcock’s stop sign study would 
be completed by the end of the week.  
 
There were additional questions for Mr. Tryka regarding single yellow line striping near publix. Mr. 
Tryka stated that the restriping project restripes over the old stripes.  Mr. Tryka confirmed that the 
striping is in compliance with current permitting.  
 
 3.  Manager’s Report 
 

Page 6



Page 6 of 6 
 

 a AMSCD Projects Update 
 
Mr. Genson went over the projects update and fielded questions from the Board.  
 
 b. Financials  
 
Mr. Karmeris presented the financial report provided in the agenda package.  
 
M. BOARD MEMBER COMMENTS 
 
There were no board member comments.  
 
N. ADJOURNMENT 
 
There being no further business to come before the Board, the Regular Board Meeting was adjourned 
at 8:22 p.m. by Vice Chair Roth.  There were no objections. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
________________________________ __________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary  Chair/Vice-Chairman 
 

Page 7



AVE MARIA STEWARDSHIP COMMUNITY DISTRICT 
 

MARCH 2023 

Project Name Start 
Date 

End 
Date 

Est. Cost % 
Complete 

Responsible 
Party 

Comments 

Landscaping S. 
AMB- Phase II 

01/2023 09/2023  $185,919 TBD% District Project is underway and in 
current year operating 

budget.   
Anthem Parkway 
Phase 5A  

2nd 
Quarter 

2023 

Public 
School 
Start 

TBD TBD AMD Design and Permitting 
underway 

Anthem Parkway 
Phase 5B 

3rd 
Quarter 

2023 

Public 
School 
Start 

TBD TBD AMD Will take longer due to 
environmental permits.  

Trees Replacement 
around Milano, 
Avilla and AMB 

2022 3/2023 $90,000 TBD District Proposals approved at 
February meeting.  

Installation expected to be 
complete by early March. 

Signage throughout 
community 

N/A 2nd  
Quarter 

2023 

N/A N/A AMD Signs are in fabrication and 
expected installation 2nd 

quarter of 2023.     
Parking on District 
Roads 

01/2023 2nd 
Quarter 

2023 

N/A N/A District Public hearing on towing 
policy set for March 2023 

meeting. Lease agreement for 
old EMS site being prepared.   

Town Core Striping 
and Flashing Signs 

01/2023 6/2023 $188,000 TBD District Board awarded contract at to 
Quality Enterprises USA.   

Page 8



AVE MARIA STEWARDSHIP COMMUNITY DISTRICT 
 

Asset Management TBD TBD TBD TBD AMD/District Subcontractor has been hired 
and is collecting data for 
system. 

Reserve Funds 
(Irrigation and 
O&M) 

TBD 4/2023 TBD TBD District Rate Adjustment 
presentation expected at 

March or April 2023 meeting. 
Bench on Milano 3/2023 4/2023 $1,600 TBD District Benches have been ordered 

and will be installed as soon 
as received.  

External Projects       
Public School K-5 2023 2025 NA NA School District School District took over 

project 
Immediate Medical 
Care  

TBD TBD TBD TBD  Provider to give presentation 
at March or April 2023 

meeting. 
Ave Maria National 
Entrance – Speed 
and Golf Cart 
Signage 

NA NA NA NA  Monitoring and documenting 
situation.  

 

Page 9



Page 10



Page 11



Page 12



Page 13



Page 14



Page 15



Page 16



Page 17



Page 18



Page 19



Page 20



Page 21



Page 22



Page 23



RESOLUTION 2023‐05 

A  RESOLUTION  OF  THE  BOARD  OF  SUPERVISORS  OF  THE  AVE MARIA 
STEWARDSHIP  COMMUNITY  DISTRICT  DESIGNATING  A  REGISTERED 
AGENT  AND  REGISTERED  OFFICE  OF  THE  AVE  MARIA  STEWARDSHIP 
COMMUNITY DISTRICT. 

 
WHEREAS, Ave Maria Stewardship Community District  (the “District”)  is a  local unit of 

special‐purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 2004‐461, Laws of Florida, 
being situated in Collier County, Florida; and 

 
WHEREAS,  the  District  is  statutorily  required  to  designate  a  registered  agent  and  a 

registered office location for the purposes of accepting any process, notice, or demand required 
or permitted by law to be served upon the District in accordance with Section 189.014(1), Florida 
Statutes. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE  IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF 
AVE MARIA STEWARDSHIP COMMUNITY DISTRICT: 

 
SECTION 1.  Alyssa Willson of Kutak Rock LLP is hereby designated as the Registered Agent 

for the Ave Maria Stewardship Community District. 
 

SECTION 2.   The District’s Registered Office shall be located at the office of Kutak Rock 
LLP, 107 West College Avenue, Tallahassee, Florida 32301. 

 
SECTION 3.  In accordance with Section 189.014, Florida Statutes, the District’s Secretary 

is hereby directed to file certified copies of this Resolution with Charlotte County, Lee County, 
and the Florida Department of Economic Opportunity. 
 

SECTION 4.  This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon adoption and any 
provisions  of  any  previous  resolutions  in  conflict  with  the  provisions  hereof  are  hereby 
superseded. 

 
PASSED AND ADOPTED this 4th day of April 2023. 
 

ATTEST:    AVE  MARIA  STEWARDSHIP  COMMUNITY 
DISTRICT 

 
 
__________________________       ________________________________ 
Secretary / Assistant Secretary      Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 
 

Page 24



 

 

BOND FINANCING TEAM FUNDING AGREEMENT 
BETWEEN THE AVE MARIA STEWARDSHIP COMMUNITY DISTRICT AND 

AVE MARIA DEVELOPMENT, LLLP 
 

This Bond Financing Team Funding Agreement (the “Agreement”) is made and entered 
into this _____ day of _______________ 2023, by and between: 
 

AVE MARIA STEWARDSHIP COMMUNITY DISTRICT, a local unit of 
special-purpose government established pursuant to Chapter 2004-461, Laws of 
Florida, and located in Collier County, Florida, whose mailing address is 2501A 
Burns Road, Palm Beach Gardens, Florida 33410 (the "District"), and 
 
AVE MARIA DEVELOPMENT, LLLP, a Florida limited liability limited 
partnership and a landowner in the District, whose mailing address is 2600 
Golden Gate Parkway, Naples, Florida 34105 (the "Developer"). 

 
RECITALS 

 
 WHEREAS, the District was established by Chapter 2004-461, Laws of Florida, for the 
purpose of planning, financing, constructing, operating and/or maintaining certain infrastructure; 
and 
 
 WHEREAS, the District presently expects to access the public bond market to provide 
for the financing of certain capital improvements, facilities, and services to benefit the lands 
within the District; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the District and the Developer desire to enter into this Agreement to 
provide funds to enable the District to commence its series 2023 financing program. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, based upon good and valuable consideration and the mutual 
covenants of the parties, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the 
parties agree as follows: 
 
 1. PROVISION OF FUNDS.  Developer agrees to make available to the District 
such monies as are necessary to proceed with the issuance of bonds or other indebtedness to fund 
the District’s improvements, facilities and services. 
 

A. Developer agrees to provide to the District any such monies upon receipt of an 
invoice from the District requesting such funds.  Such funds, and all future funds 
provided pursuant to this Agreement, may be supplied by check, cash, wire transfer or 
other form of payment deemed satisfactory in the sole discretion of the District as 
determined by the District Manager.  The District agrees to authorize District staff, 
including the District Engineer, District Manager, and District Counsel to proceed with 
the work contemplated by this Agreement, and to retain a Bond Counsel and Financial 

Page 25



 

 
 

2

Advisor and other professional assistance as may be necessary to proceed with the work 
contemplated by this Agreement. 
 
B. Developer and the District agree that all fees, costs or other expenses incurred by 
the District for the services of the District’s Engineer, Counsel, Financial Advisor or 
other professionals, for the work contemplated by this Agreement shall be paid solely 
from the funds provided by Developer pursuant to this Agreement.  Such payments shall 
be made in accordance with the District's normal invoice and payment procedures.  The 
District agrees that any funds provided by Developer pursuant to this Agreement shall be 
used solely for fees, costs, and expenses arising from or related to the work contemplated 
by this Agreement. 
 
C. The District agrees to provide to Developer, on a monthly basis, copies of all 
invoices, requisitions, or other bills for which payment is to be made from the funds 
provided by Developer.  The District agrees to provide to Developer, monthly, a 
statement from the District Manager showing funds on deposit prior to payment, 
payments made, and funds remaining on deposit with the District. 
 
D. Developer agrees to provide funds within fifteen (15) days of receipt of written 
notification from the District Manager of the need for such funds.  
 
E. In the event that Developer fails to provide any such funds pursuant to this 
Agreement, Developer and the District agree the work may be halted until such time as 
sufficient funds are provided by Developer to ensure payment of the costs, fees or 
expenses which may be incurred in the performance of such work.  

 
 2. TERMINATION.  Developer and District agree that Developer may terminate 
this Agreement without cause by providing ten (10) days written notice of termination to the 
District.  Any such termination by Developer is contingent upon Developer's provision of 
sufficient funds to cover any and all fees, costs or expenses incurred by the District in connection 
with the work to be performed under this Agreement as of the date by when notice of termination 
is received.  Developer and the District agree that the District may terminate this Agreement due 
to a failure of Developer to provide funds in accordance with Section 1 of this Agreement,  by 
providing ten (10) days written notice of termination to Developer; provided, however, that the 
Developer shall be provided a reasonable opportunity to cure any such failure. 
  
 3. CAPITALIZATION.  The parties agree that all funds provided by Developer 
pursuant to this Agreement may be reimbursable from proceeds of District financing for capital 
improvements, and that within forty-five (45) days of receipt of the proceeds by the District of 
bonds or notes for the District's capital projects, the District shall reimburse Developer in full, 
exclusive of interest, for these advances; provided, however, that in the event Bond Counsel 
determines that any such monies are not properly reimbursable, such funds shall be deemed paid 
in lieu of taxes or assessments.  In the event that District bonds are not issued within five (5) 

Page 26



 

 
 

3

years of the date of this Agreement, all funds provided by Developer pursuant to this Agreement 
shall be deemed paid in lieu of taxes or assessments.  
 
 4. DEFAULT.  A default by either party under this Agreement shall entitle the other 
to all remedies available at law or in equity, which may include, but not be limited to, the right of 
damages, injunctive relief and/or specific performance.   
 
 5. ENFORCEMENT OF AGREEMENT.  In the event that either party is required 
to enforce this Agreement by court proceedings or otherwise, then the substantially prevailing 
party shall be entitled to recover all fees and costs incurred, including reasonable attorneys’ fees, 
paralegal fees and expert witness fees and costs for trial, alternative dispute resolution, or 
appellate proceedings. 
 
 6. AGREEMENT.  This instrument shall constitute the final and complete 
expression of this Agreement between the parties relating to the subject matter of this 
Agreement. 
 
 7. AMENDMENTS.  Amendments to and waivers of the provisions contained in 
this Agreement may be made only by an instrument in writing which is executed by both of the 
parties hereto. 
 
 8. AUTHORIZATION.  The execution of this Agreement has been duly authorized 
by the appropriate body or official of all parties hereto, each party has complied with all the 
requirements of law, and each party has full power and authority to comply with the terms and 
provisions of this instrument. 
 
 9. NOTICES.  All notices, requests, consents and other communications hereunder 
("Notices") shall be in writing and shall be delivered, mailed by First Class Mail, postage 
prepaid, or overnight delivery service, to the parties, as follows: 
 

A.   If to District: Ave Maria Stewardship Community District 
2501A Burns Road 
Palm Beach Gardens, Florida 33410 
Attn: District Manager 
 

With a copy to: Kutak Rock LLP 
107 West College Avenue 
Tallahassee, Florida 32301 
Attn: District Counsel 
 

B.         If to Developer: Ave Maria Development, LLLP 
 2600 Golden Gate Parkway 
 Naples, Florida 34105  
 Attn: _______________________ 

Page 27



 

 
 

4

 
Except as otherwise provided herein, any Notice shall be deemed received only upon 

actual delivery at the address set forth herein.  Notices delivered after 5:00 p.m. (at the place of 
delivery) or on a non-business day, shall be deemed received on the next business day.  If any 
time for giving Notice contained in this Agreement would otherwise expire on a non-business 
day, the Notice period shall be extended to the next succeeding business day.  Saturdays, 
Sundays and legal holidays recognized by the United States government shall not be regarded as 
business days.  Counsel for the parties may deliver Notice on behalf of the parties.  Any party or 
other person to whom Notices are to be sent or copied may notify the other parties and 
addressees of any change in name or address to which Notices shall be sent by providing the 
same on five (5) days written notice to the parties and addressees set forth herein. 
 
 10. THIRD PARTY BENEFICIARIES.  This Agreement is solely for the benefit of 
the parties herein and no right or cause of action shall accrue upon or by reason hereof, to or for 
the benefit of any third party not a party hereto.  Nothing in this Agreement expressed or implied 
is intended or shall be construed to confer upon any person or corporation other than the parties 
hereto any right, remedy or claim under or by reason of this Agreement or any provisions or 
conditions hereof; and all of the provisions, representations, covenants and conditions herein 
contained shall inure to the sole benefit of and shall be binding upon the parties hereto and their 
respective representatives, successors and assigns. 
 
 11. ASSIGNMENT.  Neither party may assign this Agreement or any monies to 
become due hereunder without the prior written approval of the other party. 
 
 12. CONTROLLING LAW.  This Agreement and the provisions contained herein 
shall be construed, interpreted and controlled according to the laws of the State of Florida. 
  
 13. EFFECTIVE DATE.  The Agreement shall be effective after execution by both 
parties hereto and shall remain in effect unless terminated by either of the parties hereto. 
 
 14. PUBLIC RECORDS.  Developer understands and agrees that all documents of 
any kind provided to the District or to District Staff in connection with the work contemplated 
under this Agreement are public records and are treated as such in accordance with Florida law. 
      
 
 
 

[REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK] 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 28



 

 
 

6

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties execute this Agreement to be effective the day 
and year first written above. 
 
 
ATTEST:      AVE MARIA STEWARDSHIP 

COMMUNITY DISTRICT 
 
 
____________________________________ ____________________________________ 
Secretary / Assistant Secretary   Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 
              
             
     
WITNESSES: AVE MARIA DEVELOPMENT, LLLP,  

a Florida limited liability limited partnership 
 

 
____________________________________ ___________________________________ 
Print Name: __________________________ By:________________________________ 
       Its:________________________________ 
              
 
____________________________________  
Print Name: __________________________ 
 

Page 29



 
 

 
 

3414W. BAY TO BAY BLVD., UNIT #3
TAMPA, FLORIDA 33629
PHONE: 813.281.2700

152 LINCOLN AVENUE
WINTER PARK, FLORIDA 32789

PHONE: 407.622.0130

1005 BRADFORDWAY

KINGSTON, TENNESSEE 37763
PHONE: 865.717.0303

 
 

SUPPLEMENT TO INVESTMENT BANKING AGREEMENT 
DATED NOVEMBER 4, 2014 REGARDING BOND ISSUANCES BY 

AVE MARIA STEWARDSHIP COMMUNITY DISTRICT 
 
 
April 4, 2023 
 
Board of Supervisors 
Ave Maria Stewardship Community District  
 
Dear Supervisors: 
 
MBS Capital Markets, LLC (“Underwriter”) and the Board of Supervisors of the Ave Maria Stewardship 
Community District (“District”) entered into an Investment Banking Agreement effective November 4, 
2014 (“Agreement”) wherein the District engaged the Underwriter to provide investment banking services 
for the District.  The purpose of this letter is to supplement the Agreement by specifying the particular 
planned transaction currently being contemplated by the District for which such investment banking 
services are to be provided by the Underwriter. 
 
The District is considering the issuance of its Series 2023 Capital Improvement Revenue Bonds (the 
“Bonds”) for the purposed of refunding the Series 2021 Bond Anticipation Notes that funded Phase 4 
Master Infrastructure Improvements, (the “BANs”) in order to fund certain master infrastructure 
improvements within Ave Maria Stewardship Community District.  It is the District’s intent to engage the 
Underwriter to provide investment banking services for the issuance of the Bonds. 
 
 

1. Scope of Services:  The scope of services to be provided in a non-fiduciary capacity by the 
Underwriter for this transaction will include those listed below. 

 
 Advice regarding the structure, timing, terms, and other similar matters concerning 

the particular of municipal securities described above. 
 Preparation of rating strategies and presentations related to the issue being 

underwritten. 
 Preparations for and assistance with investor “road shows,” if any, and investor 

discussions related to the issue being underwritten. 
 Advice regarding retail order periods and institutional marketing if the District 

decides to engage in a negotiated sale. 

Page 30



 
  

Tampa, FL Winter Park, FL Kingston, TN

 Assistance in the preparation of the Preliminary Official Statement, if any, and the 
Final Official Statement. 

 Assistance with the closing of the issue, including negotiation and discussion with 
respect to all documents, certificates, and opinions needed for the closing.  

 Coordination with respect to obtaining CUSIP numbers and the registration with 
the Depository Trust Company. 

 Preparation of post-sale reports for the issue, if any. 
 Structuring of refunding escrow cash flow requirements, but not the 

recommendation of and brokerage of particular municipal escrow investments.  
  

2. Fees:  The Underwriter will be responsible for its own out-of-pocket expenses other than the fees 
and disbursements of underwriter’s or disclosure counsel which fees shall be paid from the proceeds 
of the Bonds.  Any fees payable to the Underwriter will be contingent upon the successful sale and 
delivery or placement of the Bonds.  The underwriting fee for the sale or placement of the Bonds 
will be 1.3% of the par amount of Bonds issued, but not less than $50,000. 
 

All other terms of the Agreement shall remain in effect, including specifically the Disclosures Concerning 
the Underwriter’s Role Required by MSRB Rule G-17 which is again being provided in Exhibit A hereto.  
By execution of this supplement to the Agreement you are acknowledging receipt of the same. 
 
This supplement to the Agreement shall be effective upon your acceptance and shall remain in effect until 
such time as the financing described herein has been completed or the Agreement is terminated as provided 
in Section 3 of the Agreement. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

[Signature Page to Follow] 
  

Page 31



 
  

Tampa, FL Winter Park, FL Kingston, TN

 
 
Sincerely, 
MBS Capital Markets, LLC 
 
 

Rhonda Mossing 
 
Rhonda Mossing 
Managing Partner 
 
 
 

Approved and Accepted By: _____________________________ 
 

Title:     _____________________________ 
 

Date:    _____________________________ 
 

  

Page 32



 
  

Tampa, FL Winter Park, FL Kingston, TN

EXHIBIT A 
 

Disclosures Concerning the Underwriter’s Role 
 
(i)         Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board Rule G-17 requires an underwriter to deal fairly at all 
times with both municipal issuers and investors; 
 
(ii)        The Underwriter’s primary role is to purchase securities with a view to distribution in an arm’s-
length commercial transaction with the District and it has financial and other interests that differ from 
those of the District;  
 
(iii)       Unlike a municipal advisor, the Underwriter does not have a fiduciary duty to the District under 
the federal securities laws and is, therefore, not required by federal law to act in the best interests of the 
District without regard to its own financial or other interests; 
 
(iv)       The Underwriter has a duty to purchase securities from the District at a fair and reasonable price, 
but must balance that duty with its duty to sell municipal securities to investors at prices that are fair and 
reasonable; and  
 
(v)        The Underwriter will review the official statement for the District’s securities in accordance with, 
and as part of, its responsibilities to investors under the federal securities laws, as applied to the facts and 
circumstances of the transaction.  
 

Disclosure Concerning the Underwriter’s Compensation 
 
Underwriter’s compensation that is contingent on the closing of a transaction or the size of a transaction 
presents a conflict of interest, because it may cause the Underwriter to recommend a transaction that it is 
unnecessary or to recommend that the size of the transaction be larger than is necessary.  
 

Conflicts of Interest 
 
Payments to or from Third Parties.  There are no undisclosed payments, values, or credits to be received 
by the Underwriter in connection with its underwriting of this new issue from parties other than the 
District, and there are no undisclosed payments to be made by the Underwriter in connection with this 
new issue to parties other than  
 
the District (in either case including payments, values, or credits that relate directly or indirectly to 
collateral transactions integrally related to the issue being underwritten). In addition, there are no third-
party arrangements for the marketing of the District’s securities. 
 
Profit-Sharing with Investors.  There are no arrangements between the Underwriter and an investor 
purchasing new issue securities from the Underwriter (including purchases that are contingent upon the 
delivery by the District to the Underwriter of the securities) according to which profits realized from the 

Page 33



 
  

Tampa, FL Winter Park, FL Kingston, TN

resale by such investor of the securities are directly or indirectly split or otherwise shared with the 
Underwriter. 
 
Credit Default Swaps.  There will be no issuance or purchase by the Underwriter of credit default swaps 
for which the reference is the District for which the Underwriter is serving as underwriter, or an obligation 
of that District. 
 
Retail Order Periods. For new issues in which there is a retail order period, the Underwriter will honor 
such agreement to provide the retail order period. No allocation of securities in a manner that is 
inconsistent with a District’s requirements will be made without the District’s consent.  In addition, when 
the Underwriter has agreed to underwrite a transaction with a retail order period, it will take reasonable 
measures to ensure that retail clients are bona fide. 
 
Dealer Payments to District Personnel. Reimbursements, if any, made to personnel of the District will 
be made in compliance with MSRB Rule G-20, on gifts, gratuities, and non-cash compensation, and Rule 
G-17, in connection with certain payments made to, and expenses reimbursed for, District personnel 
during the municipal bond issuance process. 
 

 

Page 34



Real Estate Econometrics, Inc. 707 Orchid Drive Suite 100 Naples, FL 34102 
www.ree-i.com          rweyer@ree-i.com      (239) 269-1341 

  
 

MEMORANDUM 
 ________________________________________________________________ 
 
TO: Mr. Todd Wodraska 
 District Manager, Ave Maria Community Stewardship District 
 Special District Services, Inc. 
 

 
FROM: G. Russell Weyer  
 President  
 Real Estate Econometrics, Inc. 
  
SUBJECT:   Ave Maria Stewardship Community District Series 2023 Bonds 

Supplemental Assessment Methodology Report 
 
  
DATE:  March 28, 2023 
 ________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
Scope of Work 
 
 
Background 

The Ave Maria Stewardship Community District, (“District”) is looking to issue a new 
series of bonds (“Series 2023 Bonds”) that will defease all or a portion of the Series 2021 
Bond Anticipation Notes (“Series 2021 BANs”) and be allocated and apportioned to 
current and future development areas in the Town of Ave Maria. The proposed bond issue 
requires a supplemental assessment methodology report that will allocate and apportion 
the Series 2023 Bonds in the estimated amount of $17,320,000 over 1,500 projected 
units. 

The Series 2021 BANs funded a portion of the CIP master improvements (the “2021 BANs 
CIP”) as more fully described in the Amended Fourth Sub-Master Supplemental 
Engineer’s Report amended February 26, 2018 and July 6, 2021 (the “2021 BANs 
Report”).  
 
The District is requesting Real Estate Econometrics, Inc (“Consultant”) to prepare the 
supplemental assessment methodology report for the Series 2023 Bonds issue and to 

G. Russell 
Weyer

Digitally signed by G. Russell 
Weyer 
DN: cn=G. Russell Weyer, o=Real 
Estate Econometrics, Inc., ou, 
email=rweyer@ree-i.com, c=US 
Date: 2023.03.28 15:07:09 -04'00'

Page 35



Real Estate Econometrics, Inc. 707 Orchid Drive Suite 100 Naples, FL 34102 
www.ree-i.com          rweyer@ree-i.com      (239) 269-1341 

assess the benefits of the infrastructure to the proposed new units.   
Real Estate Econometrics, Inc (“Consultant”) is well versed in developing assessment 
methodology reports for bond issues that address the following: (1) the cost allocation 
methodologies, (2) the assessment methodologies, and (3) application of the resulting 
proportionate special benefits to determine the final assessment configuration. The result 
will be the assessment in a non-ad valorem assessment roll. 

Assignment Plan 

Assignment 1 – Supplemental Assessment Methodology Reports 

The Consultant will prepare a supplemental assessment methodology report that will 
allocate and apportion Series 2023 Bonds in the estimated amount of $17,320,000 over 
1,500 projected units. 

The assessment methodology is a process by which the District will mathematically 
allocate the costs associated with the financing of its CIP to vacant parcels of land then 
special benefits will be determined proportionately to each parcel and finally the dollar 
amount of the assessment will be determined based on the proportionate benefit to each 
parcel.   

Assignment 2 – Meetings and Presentations 

The Consultant will make presentations and attend meetings at the direction of the Client 
as needed. 

Fee Proposal and Billing Arrangements 

Fee Proposal 

The consultant’s fixed fee proposal for Assignments 1 and 2 as outlined above is $11,000 
for the Series 2023 Bonds.  The Consultant will attend meetings and make presentations 
as needed.  Meeting attendance and presentations are included in the fixed fee.  It is 
understood that the fees will be a part of the cost of issuance funds from the bond issues. 

Time Table 

We can complete the assignments in an expedited fashion to meet your needs in the 
Series 2023 Bond issue. 

Real Estate Econometrics, Inc. Billing Procedures 

We begin each engagement with your signed authorization to proceed.  Fees for services 
and expenses will be paid from the cost of issuances in the bonds proceeds. 

 

Page 36



Real Estate Econometrics, Inc. 707 Orchid Drive Suite 100 Naples, FL 34102 
www.ree-i.com          rweyer@ree-i.com      (239) 269-1341 

Authorization to Proceed 

 To authorize us to proceed, please sign below, keep a copy for your files and return a 
copy for our files. 

  
 Authority to Execute 
 

Each of the parties hereto covenant to the other that it has the lawful authority to enter 
into this relationship, that the governing or managing body of each party has approved 
this relationship and has similarly authorized the execution of this Agreement. 

 
In witness whereof, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement, in duplicate, this 
4th day of April, 2023. 

 
  
 Board of Supervisors 
 Ave Maria Stewardship Community District   
  
 
 
 Signature ________________________________________ 
 Chairman 
 
 
 Printed Name:  Mr. Thomas Peek 
  
 
Invoice to: Ave Maria Stewardship Community District 
                 c/o Mr. Todd Wodraska 
 Special District Services, Inc. 
 The Oaks Center 
 2501A Burns Road 
 Palm Beach Gardens, FL 33410 
 
 Phone: (877) 737-4922 
 Fax:      (561) 630-4923 

Page 37



AMSCD PROJECTS UPDATE 
 

TO BE DISTRIBUTED 
UNDER SEPARATE COVER 

Page 38



Page 39



Page 40


	Ave Maria Stewardship Community District - April 4, 2023 Regular Board Meeting Book
	Agenda
	Proof of Publication
	March 7, 2023 Regular Board Meeting & Public Hearing Minutes
	Consider Approval of Change Order No. 1 between the District and O’Donnell Landscapes, Inc. for Ave Maria Boulevard Phase 2 Landscape Installation 

	Consider Resolution No. 2023-05 – Designating Registered Agent
	Consider Approval Bond Finance Team Funding Agreement
	Consider Approval Engagement Letter with MBS Capital Markets, LLC 
	Consider Approval Engagement Letter with G. R
	AMSCD Projects Update
	Financials




